RECEIVED

04-23-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP2289-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDREW ANTON SABO,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Timothy Witkowiak, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KAITLIN A. LAMB Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085026

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 lambk@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the affidavit in support of the search warrant provide probable cause for the court to believe that evidence of a crime would be found at Mr. Sabo's home?

The trial court answered "yes."

2. Is Mr. Sabo entitled to a *Franks-Mann* hearing?

The trial court answered "no."

3. Is Mr. Sabo entitled to the disclosure of the identity of confidential informant in this case?

The trial court answered "no."

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel does not request oral argument. Publication is not likely warranted because this case applies wellestablished law to the facts of the case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Charges

On January 26, 2015, Milwaukee County Court Commissioner Rosa Barillas signed a warrant authorizing police to enter 3718 West Burnham Street. (7:1; App. 137). The sole basis of the warrant was an affidavit from Officer Rodolfo Ayala, a police officer with the Milwaukee Police Department. (8; App. 138-42). The affidavit alleged in pertinent part that:

10. That affiant was contacted by the reliable concerned citizen witness who informed affiant that within the past seven (7) days that the reliable concerned citizen witness was inside of a residence located at 3718 West Burnham Street . . . when the reliable concerned citizen witness that the reliable concerned citizen witness [sic] observed a firearm. The confidential informant knew the firearm to belong to "Drew": that the reliable concerned citizen witness further informed affiant that it was the reliable concerned witness belief that "Drew" is a convicted felon and therefore prohibited from the possession of a firearm; The reliable concerned citizen witness described the firearm as a black semi-automatic pistol. The reliable concerned citizen witness also knows for "Drew" to conduct narcotic transactions of cocaine base. The reliable concerned citizen witness observed "Drew" weighing and packaging cocaine base for distribution within the past seven (7) days in the residence at 3718 West Burnham Street.

(8:1-2, ¶ 10; App. 138-39) (emphasis as supplied in the original).

In regards to follow-up investigation, the affidavit alleged that:

11. That affiant was able to search the data bases kept and maintained by the Milwaukee Police Department regarding individuals who have come in contact with police officers and detectives of the Milwaukee Police Department by means of an arrest, traffic stop, field interview, filing of a report, etc., and was able to obtain the identity of "Drew" as being Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 09-03-81; that affiant obtained the last booking photograph of Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 9-03-81 which was Booking Photograph No. 111030173 which affiant did provide to the reliable concerned citizen witness who did positively identify Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 9-03-81 as "Drew" and did further identify Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 9-03-81 as the individual in possession of the firearm at the residence of *3718 West Burnham Street*...

12. That affiant conducted further investigation on January 26, 2015, by physically proceeding to 3718 West Burnham and conducting surveillance at said location. Affiant while present at this location observed the target of this search warrant, **Andrew A. Sabo, w/m**, **09-31-81**, leaning out an upper window of the premises. Officer Ayala took the opportunity to engage **Andrew A. Sabo, w/m**, **09-03-81** in conversation at this time. Officer Ayala positively identified the individual he spoke with you [sic] as leaning out of the upper window as being the target herein, **Andrew A. Sabo, w/m**, **09-03-81**.

13. That affiant conducted various follow-up investigations into Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 09-03-81 that included checking out for any warrants in the NCIC. Affiant received a hit that Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 09-03-81 is currently on probation for Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver-Cocaine and Bail Jumping-Felony.

14. That affiant did also check the records of the Wisconsin Circuit Court Access System, also known as CCAP, and ascertained that in Milwaukee County Case No. 2010CF4539 in the matter of the State of Wisconsin versus Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 09-03-81 filed on 09-16-10, that **SABO** was charged with the felony offense of Bail Jumping, Class H felony, to which Andrew A. Sabo, w/m, 09-03-81 did enter a guilty plea on 09-14-2011 before the Honorable J.D. Watts; that on this same date the Honorable J.D. Watts informed SABO that he, **SABO**, as a convicted felon was not able to possess any weapons; furthermore, affiant asserts that this felony criminal conviction remains of record and un-reversed thereby prohibiting Andrew A. SABO, w/m, 09-03-81 from the possession or constructive possession of any firearms;

15. That affiant knows from personal observation **3718** *West Burnham Street* is the upper unit of a two family, two story duplex dwelling having white siding, white trim, and a gray shingled roof that the numbers "**3718**" are prominently displayed horizontally to the right of the front door, on a pillar, which is on the south side of the dwelling. The primary entry door for **3718** *West Burnham Street* is on the south side of the dwelling...

(8:2-3, ¶¶ 11-15; App. 139-40) (emphasis applied as in document).¹

The search warrant was executed and officers seized a number of items from the residence including a revolver, a pistol, scales, cocaine, and marijuana plants under a heat lamp. (1:2-3).

The State charged Mr. Sabo with three counts: (1) possession with intent to deliver (cocaine), second and subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(cm)2 & 961.48(1)(b); (2) possession of a firearm by a felon, repeater, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a); and (3) possession of a firearm by a felon, repeater, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a); (1:1-2).

Subsequently, an amended information added two counts: (4) manufacture of a controlled substance (THC), use of a dangerous weapon, second and subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1)(h)2 & 961.48(1)(b); and

¹ According to the suppression motion filed in this case, Officer Ayala was at Mr. Sabo's apartment at 1:19 p.m. on January 26, 2015. (6:4 n.2). Assistant District Attorney Laura Crivello reviewed and approved the affidavit the same day at 2:00 p.m. and Commissioner Barillas signed the affidavit 21 minutes later. (*Id.*).

(5) keeping a drug house, use of a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.42(1). (28:2-3).

Suppression Motion and Hearing

Mr. Sabo filed a motion seeking to suppress all of the evidence seized and any derivative evidence. (6:21). Mr. Sabo alleged that the affidavit attached to the search warrant "fail[ed] to establish the veracity, reliability, or credibility of his informant," and "did not demonstrate that his informant possessed a 'wealth of detail' that would have been sufficient to infer that the basis of his informant's knowledge was 'sound.'" (6:5-14).

Mr. Sabo further requested a *Franks-Mann* hearing asserting that "the allegations made by Ayala's informant are false—specifically, Sabo denies that his nickname is 'Drew' and that an informant was ever in his apartment." (6:15). Additionally, the motion asserted that the informant "was wrong about important details" and omitted the fact that Mr. Sabo's apartment was "fastidiously ringed with surveillance cameras." (6:16).²

² In support of the request for a *Franks-Mann* hearing, the motion also asserted that surveillance footage "will reveal that approximately six to seven individuals other than him were in his apartment in the week that Ayala's informant claims he or she was in Sabo's apartment" and that "counsel for Sabo anticipates identifying those six to seven individuals by name, along with statements from each of them indicating that they are not Ayala's informant." (6:15). This argument is not pursued on appeal.

In addition, Mr. Sabo requested that the court order the State to disclose the identity of its informant. (6:17).³

In a written response, the State argued that the search warrant affidavit provided a substantial basis for a probable cause finding. (12:4-9). The State also argued that the defense failed to make the requisite showing for a *Franks-Mann* hearing. (12:9-14). In regards to the defense's request for the disclosure of the identity of the informant, the State asserted that "[i]f the court determines that the affidavit provided [the commissioner] with a substantial basis upon which to make her probable cause finding, the court should necessarily deny this motion to compel disclosure." (12:14). However, the State indicated that "[i]f the Court is not so satisfied, or if in camera disclosure of the informant's identity will help the Court be satisfied, the State is not opposed." (*Id.*).

After several adjournments, the Honorable Timothy Witkowiak denied the defense motion. (52; 53; 54; 61; App. 101-21). The court stated:

³ The motion also argued the good faith exception does not apply in this case. (6:18-19). It is Mr. Sabo's continued position that the good faith exception does not apply in this case. However, at the trial court level, the State did not respond to this argument. The State's written response indicated that it "reserves the right to brief the good faith issue more fully in the event that the defendant carries his burden and demonstrates the invalidity of the warrant." (12:2). Given that the State did not brief this issue and the circuit court did not make a decision on this basis, Mr. Sabo does not address the good faith exception in this brief. Instead, Mr. Sabo respectfully requests that if this issue is reached, that this Court remand this case to the circuit court for a decision.

Here what we have is a citizen who reports seeing the defendant – and I think it was loading bullets into a magazine of a gun – also indicates that he saw the defendant working on cocaine. While I don't have any description of the entirety of the premises, the officer then uses that information to confirm some things. First of all, confirms that Drew – and finds out it is Andrew – lives there, finds out there is a felony conviction that this person has, checks the address – is there at the address defined by this person.

The Court will find that the information is deemed credible. I understand that there was no prior information provided by this person – at least not put in the affidavit – but an affidavit doesn't have to contain the entirety of what the confidential informant or concerned citizen would see. The Court will find that there was sufficient information provided with the affidavit to establish probable cause and, therefore, the Court will deny the motion.

And I don't challenge – sometimes warrants aren't processed and done efficiently. In this case it was. Drug type cases, I assume, there has to be some efficiency in order to find the product that the officers are searching for. So the Court will deny the motion.

(61:17-18; App. 116-17).

Subsequently, the court also noted that the presence of surveillance cameras on Mr. Sabo's residence "are a kind of indication that perhaps there is some drug activity occurring" and "it just seems to corroborate statements made by witnesses." (61:19; App. 118).

The court also stated that it "won't entertain the defense motion to set a *Franks-Mann* hearing . . . I don't have enough here to entertain that type of hearing." (61:20; App. 119).

Renewed Motion for Franks-Mann Hearing and to Disclose the Identity of the State's Informant

Subsequently, after an additional adjournment, the defense renewed its motion for a *Franks-Mann* hearing and for the State to disclose the identity of informant. (55; 16). In support, the motion alleged that a man with pending homicide and kidnapping charges, Albert Martinez, came to trial counsel's office and stated that he called 911 and "lied" about Mr. Sabo having "guns and drugs" in his residence. (16:2-3). The motion argued that: "[w]hen all of this information is considered, the only possible conclusions to be drawn are that (1) Ayala's informant was not Martinez; (2) Ayala's informant does not exist; or (3) Ayala falsified facts within his affidavit in an effort to create probable cause by bootstrapping Martinez's vague and false tip about contraband within Sabo's apartment." (16:4).

At the hearing on the renewed motion, the defense argued that "[t]his could all be solved . . . with a five-minute conversation back in the court's chambers with Officer Ayala or with the State. Here's our informant, here's where we got the information. Done. Case over. That's all I've been asking for this entire time." (56:12; App. 133).

In response, the State argued at the hearing that the defense did not provide a substantial preliminary showing for a *Franks-Mann* motion hearing. (56:3; App. 124). Additionally, in regards to the in-camera disclosure request, the State argued that there was no reason to find that the informant was "non-reliable." (*Id.*).

The Honorable Timothy Witkowiak denied the renewed motion, finding that the defense did not present "a substantial preliminary showing." (56:13; App. 134). During the hearing, the court noted that "this person was so

incredible at the time he makes that [911] phone call, but he was much more credible at the time he comes into your office about what happened" and "my concern is obviously the tape isn't there. That would make it crystal clear as far as what occurred." (56:8-9; App. 129-30). In addition, during the hearing, the court also stated that:

What [the defense is] giving me is a statement now made by somebody who's accused of murdering and burning somebody down in Texas. What I've got is an affidavit from an officer that establishes probable cause.

I can't, at this point, find that the defense has given me enough to show what it needs to show to conduct that Franks-Mann hearing; therefore, the court will deny the motion.

(56:13; App. 134).

Plea and Sentencing

Mr. Sabo subsequently pled guilty to three counts: (1) possession with intent to deliver (cocaine), second and subsequent offense; (2) possession of a firearm by a felon, repeater; and (3) possession of a firearm by a felon, repeater. (1; 38:1; 65:2-3). In exchange, the State agreed to recommend 8 to 10 years of initial confinement and 5 years of extended supervision. (29:2; 65:3). The State to agreed withdraw the amended information with two additional counts. (28; 65:2).

At sentencing, the Honorable Timothy Witkowiak imposed a total prison sentence of 8 years (4 years initial confinement and 4 years extended supervision). (38:1; 66:21-22).

Additional relevant facts will be referenced below.

ARGUMENT

I. The affidavit in support of the search warrant failed to provide probable cause for the court to believe that evidence of a crime would be found at Mr. Sabo's home.

A. Legal principles.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution provide that no warrant shall issue "but upon probable cause." In determining whether probable cause exists, courts must use "the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis that traditionally has informed probable-cause determinations." *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). The Court in *Gates* described the analysis as follows:

The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the "veracity" and "basis of knowledge" of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.

Id.

Accordingly, the magistrate may consider only the facts set forth in the affidavit supporting the warrant application. *State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 26, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517. The determination "must be based upon what a reasonable magistrate can infer from the information presented by the police." *Id.* "On review it must appear that the magistrate was apprised of sufficient facts to excite an honest belief in a reasonable mind that the objects

sought are linked with the commission of a crime, and that objects sought will be found in the place to be searched." *State v. Starke*, 81 Wis. 2d 399, 408, 260 N.W.2d 739 (1978).

A reviewing court is confined to the record established before the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued. *Id*. Although the magistrate's determination must be accorded "great deference," the duty of the reviewing court is to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed. *Ward*, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 21; *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238-39.

Magistrates cannot merely ratify the bare conclusions of others. "In order to ensure that such an abdication of the magistrate's duty does not occur, courts must continue to conscientiously review the sufficiency of affidavits on which warrants are issued." *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 239.

While this Court must employ a deferential standard in reviewing the issuing magistrate's determination of probable cause, it owes no deference to the circuit court's decision upholding the warrant's validity. *See State v. Johnson*, 231 Wis. 2d 58, 67, 604 N.W.2d 902 (Ct. App. 1999).

As discussed below, in this case, this Court should conclude that the affidavit in support of the search warrant failed to provide probable cause.

B. The affidavit does not establish the informant's basis of knowledge.

To demonstrate an informant's basis of knowledge, "facts must be revealed to the warrant-issuing officer to permit the officer to reach a judgment whether the declarant had a basis for his or her allegations that evidence of a crime would be found at a certain place." *State v. Romero*, 2009 WI 32, \P 22, 317 Wis. 2d 12, 765 N.W.2d 756. This can be shown by "an explanation of how the declarant came by his or her information" or indirectly, if, for example, the declarant provides a wealth of detail. *Id*.

In this case, the affidavit fails to describe any characteristics of the informant that would make the informant knowledgeable about illegal narcotics. The affidavit states that the informant "observed 'Drew' weighing and packing cocaine for distribution . . ." and "knows 'Drew' to conduct narcotic transactions of cocaine base." (8:2-3, ¶ 10; App. 139-40).

The affidavit does not state how the informant knows the substance that "Drew" was weighing and packaging was actually cocaine. The affidavit does not state that the informant previously used cocaine, that Mr. Sabo admitted he was weighing and packaging cocaine, that Mr. Sabo's actions were somehow unique to cocaine, that the informant bought cocaine and brought it to the police for testing, or that the informant used some of the observed substance and experienced cocaine-like effects. Thus, the affidavit contains no information that would lead the issuing commissioner to conclude that the substance the informant observed was in fact cocaine.

Additionally, the affidavit does not state how the informant "knows 'Drew' to conduct narcotic transactions of cocaine base." Did the informant see him sell or buy cocaine? Did the informant sell or buy cocaine from him?

Moreover, the informant did not provide a "wealth of detail" that would lead an issuing magistrate to conclude that Officer Ayala's informant had a basis for his allegations that cocaine and a firearm would be found at Mr. Sabo's apartment. The affidavit does not contain any information regarding the layout of "Drew's" apartment, the furnishing in the apartment, how the informant knew "Drew," how he gained entrance into Drew's apartment (was it to buy or sell drugs?), or why he believed "Drew" was a felon. Did the informant look Mr. Sabo up on CCAP, hear that he was a convicted felon from the street, or was he convicted with Mr. Sabo as a co-defendant? The informant does not provide any information as to how or for how long he or she knew Mr. Sabo, when or how they met, his or her relationship to Mr. Sabo, or how he or she came to know Mr. Sabo as "Drew."

In the State's written response, it noted that the affidavit states:

8. The affiant believes that the disclosure of the reliable concerned citizen witness's identity would place the concerned citizen in danger and would create a great deal of tension in the relationship between the target of the warrant and the concerned citizen. This concerned citizen indicated that the concerned citizen stepped forward out of fear that the target would become engaged in violence utilizing the firearm observed by the concerned citizen.

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