RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-21-2018

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP2289-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDREW ANTON SABO,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY M. WITKOWIAK PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

GREGORY M. WEBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3935 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) webergm@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

I. The warrant affidavit established probable cause to search Sabo's residence.

A. The controlling principles of law.

"A search warrant may only issue on probable cause." State v. Romero, 2009 WI 32, ¶ 16, 317 Wis. 2d 12, 765 N.W.2d 756. "[A] probable cause determination must be based upon what a reasonable magistrate can infer from the information presented by the police." State v. Ward, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 26, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517.

Probable cause exists if the warrant affidavit demonstrates a "fair probability" that a search of the target area will yield evidence of wrongdoing. *State v. Hillary*, 2017 WI App 67, ¶ 8, 378 Wis. 2d 267, 903 N.W.2d 311.

Certainty is not the standard. "[P]robable cause is far short of certainty—it 'requires only a probability or substantial chance of criminal activity, not an actual showing of such activity', and not a probability that exceeds 50 percent (more likely than not'), either." *United States v. Seiver*, 692 F.3d 774, 777 (7th Cir. 2012) (citation omitted).

The probable cause standard is practical and nontechnical; it relies on common sense. *Hillary*, 378 Wis. 2d

267, ¶ 8. It requires courts to consider factual and practical considerations that occur in everyday life, and upon which reasonable and prudent people—not legal technicians—act. Id. And it allows courts to draw inferences that reasonable people would draw from the facts presented. Id.

Courts look at the totality of the circumstances to determine the existence of probable cause. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). "Where there is evidence that would lead a reasonable person to conclude that the evidence sought is likely to be in a particular location, there is probable cause for a search of that location." *Ward*, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 34.

This Court gives "great deference to the warrant-issuing judge's determination of probable cause, and that determination will stand unless the defendant establishes that the facts are clearly insufficient to support a finding of probable cause." Romero, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 18. Such deference furthers "the Fourth Amendment's strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant." Id.

This is an important consideration. In close cases, this Court will give the warrant-issuing judge the benefit of the doubt, and sustain the search. *State v. Watkinson*, 161 Wis. 2d 750, 755, 468 N.W.2d 763 (Ct. App. 1991).

The court commissioner issued the search warrant based on the information contained in Ayala's warrant affidavit. That procedure poses no Fourth Amendment problem. "When an affidavit is the only evidence presented to a judge in support of a search warrant, 'the validity of the warrant rests solely on the strength of the affidavit." *United States v. Hansmeier*, 867 F.3d 807, 811 (7th Cir. 2017) (citation omitted). The probable cause standard remains the same. *United States v. Mykytiuk*, 402 F.3d 773, 776 (7th Cir. 2005).

Warrant affidavits often receive hypertechnical attack based on what they do *not* contain. That is the case here.

(Sabo's Br. 11–16.) This Court should shun that approach. "The affidavit is judged on the adequacy of what it does contain, not on what it lacks, or on what a critic might say should have been added." *United States v. Allen*, 211 F.3d 970, 975 (6th Cir. 2000) (en banc).

Ayala's affidavit also contained hearsay information from a person best described as a citizen informant whose identity and contact information was known to Ayala. *See generally State v. Kolk*, 2006 WI App 261, ¶¶ 12–13, 298 Wis. 2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337. Again, that poses no Fourth Amendment problem. Assessing the reliability of such information is part of the totality of the circumstances determination. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 241.

Generally, courts apply a relaxed test of reliability to citizen informants who say they witnessed criminal activity. *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 36, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. The focus is on observational reliability—the nature of the citizen's report, the opportunity to see and hear the matters reported, and the verification provided by independent police investigation. *Kolk*, 298 Wis. 2d 99, ¶ 13.

B. The warrant affidavit established probable cause to search Sabo's residence.

A purely conclusory affidavit—one that simply asserts the existence of probable cause, without describing the underlying circumstances supporting that conclusion—does not satisfy the Fourth Amendment. *United States v. Ventresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 108–09 (1965). Likewise, an affidavit that presents little more than "a casual rumor" will not establish probable cause. *Spinelli v. United States*, 393 U.S. 410, 416 (1969).

But that is not what we have here. This was a properly issued warrant.

Here, the court commissioner had a warrant affidavit that contained fresh, firsthand observations of criminal activity committed by Sabo. The affidavit easily established probable search to search Sabo's residence.

This is the thrust of the affidavit: a citizen informant known to Ayala by name and contact information told him that, within the previous week, the informant had been in Sabo's residence. The informant described Sabo's physical appearance and described the address. The informant saw Sabo—whom the informant knew to be a convicted felon who sold ("conducted transactions") cocaine base—weighing and packaging cocaine, while possessing a specific color and type of weapon—a black, semiautomatic pistol loaded with ammunition.

No apparent reason existed for Ayala to question the informant's reliability. The allegations themselves were not unbelievable, incredible, or internally inconsistent. And in the case of drug dealing, evidence is likely to be found where the dealer lives. *United States v. Ellis*, 499 F.3d 686, 691 (7th Cir. 2007).

Probable cause does not require proof that something is more likely true than false. It requires only that, under the totality of the circumstances, a fair probability exists that police will find contraband or evidence of a crime in the area searched. The affidavit met that standard.

And Ayala did not simply take the informant's word for it. He sought out and found corroboration. Ayala confirmed Sabo's identity as Drew, the man seen by the informant. Ayala confirmed Sabo's address. He confirmed that Sabo did in fact occupy the residence. He confirmed Sabo's status as a convicted felon. And he confirmed that Sabo had a past conviction for at least one drug-distribution-related offense.

Information is only as good as its source. Ayala's corroboration established that his source was good—that his

informant had inside information and familiarity with Sabo's affairs, including Sabo's involvement in concealed criminal activity. "[If] an informant is shown to be right about some things, he is probably right about other facts that he has alleged, including the claim that the object of the tip is engaged in criminal activity." *Alabama v. White*, 496 U.S. 325, 331 (1990). In particular, confirming the informant's claim that Sabo was a convicted felon who had been involved in drug dealing allowed Ayala and the court commissioner to reasonably conclude that the informant's complete fund of information was worthy of belief. It established Sabo's involvement in criminal activity, and fully justified issuing the warrant.

Additional indicators of reliability appear here. The informant provided his/her name and telephone number to Ayala, thereby increasing the likelihood that he/she might be held accountable for inaccuracies or lies. "Unlike the anonymous tipster, a witness who directly approaches a police officer can also be held accountable for false statements. As the Supreme Court has observed, citizens who personally report crimes to the police thereby make themselves accountable for lodging false complaints." *United States v. Christmas*, 222 F.3d 141, 144 (4th Cir. 2000).

The basis of the informant's knowledge of the conveyed information came from recent, firsthand observation at Sabo's residence, as well as the informant's past experience with Sabo. It was not based on rumor or hearsay. The informant's stated information went far beyond mere suspicion of criminal activity, or repetition of someone else's suspicions.

The informant's knowledge that Sabo was a convicted felon, not allowed to possess firearms, also indicates something more than casual observation by a member of the general public. It indicates an acquaintanceship with Sabo—a relationship—and more intimate, detailed familiarity with his affairs. The citizen informant's firsthand observation and

stated motivation for speaking with Ayala—a concern that Sabo, armed with a semiautomatic pistol, would engage in violent activity—also militate in favor of reliability. "[I]nformation from a citizen informant is presumed reliable where circumstances indicate the information was gained from first-hand experience, and the motivation for speaking with law enforcement authorities is based on 'the interest of society or personal safety." *State v. Day*, 263 S.W.2d 891, 904 (Tenn. 2008) (citation omitted). *See also Gates*, 462 U.S. at 234 ("[I]f we entertain some doubt as to an informant's motives, his explicit and detailed description of alleged wrongdoing, along with a statement that the event was observed firsthand, entitles his tip to greater weight than might otherwise be the case.").

The State does not consider this a close case. The warrant affidavit established probable cause to search Sabo's residence. But if this Court considers it a close case, it should nonetheless defer to the court commissioner's probable cause determination. *Romero*, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 18. It should give the commissioner the benefit of the doubt and sustain the search. *Watkinson*, 161 Wis. 2d at 755. If this Court disagrees, it should remand the case to the circuit court to determine whether police acted in good faith reliance on the warrant. *Marquardt*, 247 Wis. 2d 765, ¶ 22.

Sabo's appellate argument regarding the lack of probable cause fails to persuade. He claims the warrant affidavit failed to adequately establish the citizen informant's basis of knowledge. (Sabo's Br. 11–14.) He buttresses his claim by listing information the affidavit does not contain—information as to the informant's familiarity with unlawful narcotics transactions, with cocaine, and the like. He also complains that the affidavit does not identify the caliber of the loaded semiautomatic pistol, the room in which Sabo handled

it, whether Sabo had a case or holster for the gun, and whether it was large or small. (*Id.* at 14.).4

Sabo's argument on point seems hypertechnical. "The affidavit is judged on the adequacy of what it does contain, not on what it lacks, or on what a critic might say should have been added." *Allen*, 211 F.3d at 975.

A commonsense reading of the affidavit shows that Sabo was engaged in what an experienced court commissioner would immediately recognize as the preparation of cocaine for delivery. The informant also knew of Sabo's past involvement with the sale of cocaine, making it reasonable for the court commissioner to infer that the informant accurately recognized and related what Sabo was doing—weighing and packaging cocaine for delivery. The State has also stressed the importance of the citizen informant's fresh, firsthand observations of Sabo and his conduct to the informant's basis of knowledge. (State's Br. 13–14.)

Sabo claims the affidavit failed to adequately establish the informant's veracity. (Sabo's Br. 14–16.) He claims the affidavit contained no information pertaining to the informant's "past performance." (*Id.* at 15.) That is not a fatal defect. Ayala confirmed key aspects of the informant's information through his own investigation. (State's Br. 12–13.)

Sabo also claims the affidavit does not clearly identify the informant's status—confidential informant, citizen informant, paid informant, etc. (Sabo's Br. 15.) The affidavit described the informant as a "concerned citizen," which seems

⁴ Since Sabo ejected the pistol's magazine—loaded with cartridges—and showed it to the informant, the court commissioner could safely assume the pistol was neither cased nor holstered. It was ready for use. Similarly, the felon-in-possession statute does not distinguish between possession of holstered or unholstered guns, or large or small guns.

apt. (R. 8:3.) The informant does not appear to have committed any criminal wrongdoing, and came forward "out of fear that the target would become engaged in violence utilizing the firearm" the informant saw. (*Id.* at 2; *See also* State's Br. 13 (treating informant as a citizen who personally reported Sabo's criminal activity to police).)

He also submits that the absence of statements against the informant's penal interest renders him not credible. (Sabo's Br. 16.) While an informant's statements against penal interest may bolster credibility, *see Romero*, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 6, their absence does not render an informant's other statements unworthy of belief. The informant was sufficiently reliable. (State's Br. 11–14.)

Finally, Sabo faults Ayala for not "meaningfully" corroborating the informant's information. (Sabo's Br. 16–17.) The State disagrees, noting the subjective nature of the word *meaningfully*.

Corroboration serves an important purpose—it gives the affiant and the warrant-issuing judge confidence in the totality of the informant's allegations. Ayala's corroboration served that purpose here. Ayala confirmed Sabo's identity as Drew, the man seen by the informant. Ayala confirmed Sabo's address. He confirmed that Sabo did in fact occupy the residence. He confirmed Sabo's status as a convicted felon. And he confirmed that Sabo had a past conviction for at least one drug-distribution-related offense. That confirmation allowed the court commissioner to reasonably rely on the remainder of the informant's information. "[If] an informant is shown to be right about some things, he is probably right about other facts that he has alleged, including the claim that the object of the tip is engaged in criminal activity." White, 496 U.S. at 331.

To reiterate: the State does not consider this a close case. But if this Court disagrees, it should still defer to the court commissioner's finding of probable cause, give the commissioner the benefit of the doubt, and sustain the search. *Romero*, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 18; *Watkinson*, 161 Wis. 2d at 755.

II. The circuit court did not err by refusing to hold a *Franks-Mann* hearing.

A. The controlling principles of law.

As a general rule, this Court presumes the validity of an affidavit supporting a search warrant. See State v. Anderson, 138 Wis. 2d 451, 463, 406 N.W.2d 398 (1987); United States v. Johnson, 580 F.3d 666, 670 (7th Cir. 2009). That presumption is hard to overcome.

In *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 155–56, the United States Supreme Court held that "where the defendant makes a substantial preliminary showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, was included by the affiant in the warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement is necessary to the finding of probable cause, the Fourth Amendment requires that a hearing be held at the defendant's request."

In *Mann*, 123 Wis. 2d at 385–90, the Wisconsin Supreme Court extended *Franks* to include omissions from a warrant affidavit that are the equivalent of deliberate falsehoods or reckless disregard for the truth. "For an omitted fact to be the equivalent of 'a deliberate falsehood or a reckless disregard for the truth,' it must be an undisputed fact that is critical to an impartial judge's fair determination of probable cause." *Id.* at 388 (footnote omitted).

To obtain a hearing, Sabo had to establish by a "substantial preliminary showing" that (1) Ayala's affidavit contained a false material statement or material omission; (2) Ayala made the false statement or omitted the fact intentionally, or with reckless disregard to the truth; and (3) the false statement or material omission is necessary to

support the probable cause finding. Franks, 438 U.S. at 155–56. "These elements are hard to prove, and thus Franks hearings are rarely held." United States v. Swanson, 210 F.3d 788, 790 (7th Cir. 2000).

Three additional principles deserve comment.

First, conclusory, self-serving statements will not justify a *Franks-Mann* hearing. *See Franks*, 438 U.S. at 171. "[T]he *Franks* presumption of validity of an affidavit supporting a search warrant cannot be overcome by a self-serving statement which purports to refute the affidavit." *United States v. Reed*, 726 F.2d 339, 342 (7th Cir. 1984).

Second, "an unimportant allegation, even if viewed as intentionally misleading, does not trigger the need for a *Franks* hearing." *Swanson*, 210 F.3d at 790.

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